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CRIMINAL REFERRAL 
 
Date: June 18, 2025 
 
To: ​ ​ Pam Bondi, United States Attorney General, U.S. Department of Justice 
From: ​​ Mike Howell, President, The Oversight Project: It’s Your Government 

Re: ​ Criminal Referral for David Morens, Marge Moore, Greg Folkder, and 
others yet to be identified to be investigated for violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2071, 18 
U.S.C. § 641, 18 U.S.C. § 1905, and 18 U.S.C. § 1001. 

 
Title:  Request Opening of Criminal Investigation – Subjects:  David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
the Director of NIAID, Marge Moore, NIH FOIA officer, Greg Folkder former-Chief of Staff to 
Anthony Fauci; and others yet to be identified.  
 
Synopsis: Criminal referral requesting investigation of conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. § 2071 
(Forbidding the Concealment, Removal, or Mutilation of Federal Records; 18 U.S.C. § 641 
(Theft or Conversion of Government Property); 18 U.S.C. § 1905 (Disclosure of Confidential 
Information); and and 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (False Statements). 
 
Details:  The Oversight Project respectfully requests the Department of Justice open a new 
investigation predicated upon the following claims and evidence based upon an investigative 
product from the Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic1:  1) Officials at NIH 
including David Morens, Senior Advisor to the Director of NIAID, Margaret “Marge” Moore, 
NIAID FOIA and Privacy Act Request Coordinator, and Greg Folkder former-Chief of Staff to 
Anthony Fauci conspired to and did violate laws 18 U.S.C. § 2071 forbidding the concealment, 
removal, or mutilation of federal records.  2) David Morens violated 18 U.S.C. § 641 (Theft or 
Conversion of Government Property) and 18 U.S.C. § 1905 (Disclosure of Confidential 
Information) by disclosing to EcoHealth Alliance (EHA), a private recipient of federal funds, 
internal government communications and documents in which EHA had an interest and by 
informally advising EHA that their federal funds would be restored. 3) Finally, Morens violated 
U.S.C. § 1001 by his statements given during his transcribed interview on January 18th, 2024 
which conflict with the information revealed in the emails obtained by the House Select 
Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic.  
 
Relevant Facts, Circumstance, and Allegations: 
 
Concealment of Federal Records 
18 U.S.C. § 2071 (Forbidding the Concealment, Removal, or Mutilation of Federal Records), 
states the following: 
 

1 See Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to National Institute of 
Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci, May 22, 2024, 
https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/SSCP-Staff-Memo_Morens-5.22.pdf . The Select 
Subcommittee memo is superior to the following bullets in many respects and should be read. This document aims 
to summarize with a focus on identifying specific criminal acts and some of the most striking evidence. It also 
includes some documents uncovered by the committee but not included in the aforementioned memo. 
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(a)​ Whoever willfully and unlawfully conceals, removes, mutilates, obliterates, or destroys, 
or attempts to do so, or, with intent to do so takes and carries away any record, 
proceeding, map, book, paper, document, or other thing, filed or deposited with any clerk 
or officer of any court of the United States, or in any public office, or with any judicial or 
public officer of the United States, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more 
than three years, or both.​
 

(b)​Whoever, having the custody of any such record, proceeding, map, book, document, 
paper, or other thing, willfully and unlawfully conceals, removes, mutilates, obliterates, 
falsifies, or destroys the same, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 
three years, or both; and shall forfeit his office and be disqualified from holding any 
office under the United States. As used in this subsection, the term “office” does not 
include the office held by any person as a retired officer of the Armed Forces of the 
United States. 

 
In the instant case, David Morens knowingly concealed federal records by purposely 

communicating official government business on unofficial platforms to circumvent transparency 
requirements. He repeatedly directed official communications to unofficial platforms with the 
stated intent of avoiding processes for the discovery of government records, including FOIA. 
Multiple emails from Morens record his intent of avoiding disclosure of government records by 
using private email and “sending stuff on private gmail.” The following e-mails document 
Moren’s intent: 
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2 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 1. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 
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4 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 6. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 

3 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 5. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 
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David Morens also admitted to attempting to destroy government records while, in some 
cases, maintaining access to their contents by “sending them to gmail.” The following e-mails 
document Moren’s intentional efforts to avoid FOIA and “make emails disappear.” 

5 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 4. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 

4 



DRAFT – ATTORNEY CLIENT PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL  
DO NOT DISSEMINATE 

6 
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8 Ibid. 
7 Ibid. 

6 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 7. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 

5 



DRAFT – ATTORNEY CLIENT PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL  
DO NOT DISSEMINATE 

9 
 
Also in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2071 (Forbidding the Concealment, Removal, or 

Mutilation of Federal Records), David Morens sought to conceal records by facilitating “‘secret’ 
back channel” communication between Anthony Fauci and a journalist. According to emails this 
“back channel” included the topic of Covid-19 pandemic and theories about its origin. Any 
discussions with Fauci regarding these topics were official records which are illegal to conceal 
documented in the below e-mail: 

 

9 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 18. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 

6 



DRAFT – ATTORNEY CLIENT PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL  
DO NOT DISSEMINATE 

10 
David Morens also conspired with NIH FOIA director Marge Moore to conceal federal 

records. Marge Moore reportedly planned to invoke her Fifth Amendment rights if called to 
testify regarding the Dr. Morens matter. 11 

12 
The following communication is the basis that the “foia lady” Morens refers to likely 

Moore:

12 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 7. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 

11 Vigen, William; Jacobs, Ronald. “Letter to The Honorable Chairman Brad Wenstrup, Chair, House 
Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic.” August 5, 2024. 
https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/2024.08.05-Vigen-ltr.-to-Hon.-B.-Wenstrup.pdf.  

10 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 3. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 
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Greg Folkers, former-Chief of Staff to Anothoy Fauci, sought to conceal federal records 

by deliberately misspelling key terms that were most likely to be searched as part of FOIA 
requests related to Covid-19, theories about its origins, and EHA. Evidence revealed that Folkers 
deliberated misspelling of Andersen (“anders$n”), the last name of the lead author of an early 
scientific publication that sought to discredit a lab-origin hypothesis.  We recommend that 
Folkner is interviewed under penalty of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (False Statements) as to his intent of 
this misspelling and any other such attempts to circumvent governmental transparency laws. See 
below misspelled word in the “subject” of the e-mail address.  

13 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 8. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 

8 
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Also note that Folkers misspelled EcoHealth as “Ec-Health” in the following e-mail:  

14 Wenstrup, Brad. “Letter to The Honorable Monica M. Bertagnolli, M.D.” Page 3. May 28, 2024. U.S. 
Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic, Washington, DC. 
https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/2024.05.28-BRW-Letter-to-NIH-Re.-FOIA_
Redacted.pdf.  
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Other potential subjects at NIH supported Morens’ and Moore’s work to conceal federal 

records by using non-official communication channels. An investigation is required to determine 
if these individuals were aware of the criminal purpose of the scheme. 

16 

16 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 

15 Wenstrup, Brad. “Letter to The Honorable Monica M. Bertagnolli, M.D.” Page 4. May 28, 2024. U.S. 
Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic, Washington, DC. 
https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/2024.05.28-BRW-Letter-to-NIH-Re.-FOIA_
Redacted.pdf.  
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Theft of Government Property & Disclosure of Confidential Information: 
18 U.S.C. § 641 (Theft or Conversion of Government Property) states the following: 
 
Whoever embezzles, steals, purloins, or knowingly converts to his use or the use of another, or 
without authority, sells, conveys or disposes of any record, voucher, money, or thing of value of 
the United States or of any department or agency thereof, or any property made or being made 
under contract for the United States or any department or agency thereof; or 

Whoever receives, conceals, or retains the same with intent to convert it to his use or gain, 
knowing it to have been embezzled, stolen, purloined or converted— 

17 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 7. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 
 

National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 8. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 
 

11 

https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/uscode.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=18-USC-111972721-522572450&term_occur=999&term_src=
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Shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both. 

18 U.S.C. § 1905 (Disclosure of Confidential Information) states the following:  
 
Whoever, being an officer or employee of the United States or of any department or agency 
thereof, any person acting on behalf of the Federal Housing Finance Agency, or agent of the 
Department of Justice as defined in the Antitrust Civil Process Act (15 U.S.C. 1311–1314), or 
being an employee of a private sector organization who is or was assigned to an agency under 
chapter 37 of title 5, publishes, divulges, discloses, or makes known in any manner or to any 
extent not authorized by law any information coming to him in the course of his employment or 
official duties or by reason of any examination or investigation made by, or return, report or 
record made to or filed with, such department or agency or officer or employee thereof, which 
information concerns or relates to the trade secrets, processes, operations, style of work, or 
apparatus, or to the identity, confidential statistical data, amount or source of any income, profits, 
losses, or expenditures of any person, firm, partnership, corporation, or association; or permits 
any income return or copy thereof or any book containing any abstract or particulars thereof to 
be seen or examined by any person except as provided by law; shall be fined under this title, or 
imprisoned not more than one year, or both; and shall be removed from office or employment. 
 

In the instant case, David Morens disclosed to EcoHealth Alliance (EHA), a private 
recipient of federal funds, internal government communications and documents in which EHA 
had an interest and by informally advising EHA that their federal funds would be restored. 
Below, Morens provided Peter Daszak and others at EHA with internal communications 
concerning NIH’s processing of FOIA related to EHA. This included alerting to document 

12 

https://www.law.cornell.edu/topn/antitrust_civil_process_act
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/15/1311
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releases and pauses in the processing of FOIA requests.18

18 See https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/SSCP-Staff-Memo_Morens-5.22.pdf for 
more documented examples. 
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Moreover, David Morens provided EHA with a document entitled “NIAID SARS-CoV-2 

Research Updates.”  Morens described this document as a “New NIAID implementation plan”. 
The document was marked “FOUO” - For Official (Government) Use Only - but was sent by 
Morens via his personal gmail account. The contents of this document would likely have been 
materially beneficial to EHA whose federal grants depended on this type of research. This 
document likely would not have otherwise been available to EHA. 

 
 

20 

20 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 9. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 
 

19 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Pages 11 - 12. 
May 22, 2024. 118th Congress. 
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In violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1905 (Disclosure of Confidential Information), Morens 
reassured EHA that their funding would be restored and helped EHA to edit their responses to 
NIH regarding this topic. 
 
 
 

21 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 10. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 
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22 E-Mail from David Morenz, M.D., Senior Advisor, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’Insts. 
of Health, to Peter Daszak, Ph.D., et. Al. (Apr. 21, 2021) (BU02527). 

17 
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23 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 19. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 
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Comment: The Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic could not find 
evidence to support that any kickback was ever paid, and Morens stated that the 
reference to a “kickback” was a joke.25 
 

False Statemetns 
18 U.S.C. § 1001(b)(2) (False Statements) states the following: 
 
(a) Except as otherwise provided in this section, whoever, in any matter within the jurisdiction of 
the executive, legislative, or judicial branch of the Government of the United States, knowingly 
and willfully— 
(1)falsifies, conceals, or covers up by any trick, scheme, or device a material fact; 

25 (For more examples, See 
https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/SSCP-Staff-Memo_Morens-5.22.pdf. 

24 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 31. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 
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(2)makes any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation; or 
(3)makes or uses any false writing or document knowing the same to contain any materially 
false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or entry; 
shall be fined under this title, imprisoned not more than 5 years or, if the offense involves 
international or domestic terrorism (as defined in section 2331), imprisoned not more than 8 
years, or both. If the matter relates to an offense under chapter 109A, 109B, 110, or 117, or 
section 1591, then the term of imprisonment imposed under this section shall be not more than 8 
years. 
(b)Subsection (a) does not apply to a party to a judicial proceeding, or that party’s counsel, for 
statements, representations, writings or documents submitted by such party or counsel to a judge 
or magistrate in that proceeding. 
(c) With respect to any matter within the jurisdiction of the legislative branch, subsection (a) 
shall apply only to— 
(1)administrative matters, including a claim for payment, a matter related to the procurement of 
property or services, personnel or employment practices, or support services, or a document 
required by law, rule, or regulation to be submitted to the Congress or any office or officer within 
the legislative branch; or 
(2)any investigation or review, conducted pursuant to the authority of any committee, 
subcommittee, commission or office of the Congress, consistent with applicable rules of the 
House or Senate. 
 

David Morens denied to Congress, under penalty of perjury, discussing EHA with 
Anthony Fauci. However many emails between Morens and EHA attest to these conversations. 
This is a clear violation of federal law under the perjury statutes. 
 
 

26 
 

26 U.S. Congress, House, Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Interview of: Dr. David Morens. Page 41. 
https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/Morens-TI-Transcript-2.pdf. 118th Congress.  
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28 
 

28 E-Mail from David Morens, M.D., Senior Advisor, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of 
Health, to Gerald Keusch, M.D., (Nov. 18, 2021) (Morens_Subpoena _011615). 
https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/Underlying-Docs_Morens-Memo-5.22.pdf.  
 

27 E-Mail from David Morens, M.D., Senior Advisor, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of 
Health, to Peter Daszak, Ph.D., (Apr. 26, 2020) (Morens_Subpoena _011613). 
https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/Underlying-Docs_Morens-Memo-5.22.pdf.  
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29 E-Mail from David Morens, M.D., Senior Advisor, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. 
of Health, to Gerald Keusch, M.D., (Nov. 18, 2021) (Morens_Subpoena _014739). 
https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/Underlying-Docs_Morens-Memo-5.22.pdf.  
 

22 



DRAFT – ATTORNEY CLIENT PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL  
DO NOT DISSEMINATE 

30 

31 
https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/Underlying-Docs_Morens-Mem
o-5.22.pdf 

31 E-Mail from Peter Daszak P.hD., to David Morens, M.D. Senior Advisor, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & 
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, (Apr. 21, 2021) (Morens_Subpoena _019662). 
https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/Underlying-Docs_Morens-Memo-5.22.pdf.  
 

30 E-Mail from Peter Daszak P.hD., to David Morens, M.D. Senior Advisor, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & 
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, (Apr. 21, 2021) (Morens_Subpoena _019658). 
https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/Underlying-Docs_Morens-Memo-5.22.pdf.  
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David Morens also denied, under penalty of perjury, conducting official business for 
Daszak of EHA over gmail. He also denied discussing questions of Covid-19 origin or EHA over 
gmail. However multiple emails produced by subpoena, including a subset of those in this 
document, show this statement to be false: 

32 United States, Congress, House, Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Staff 
Memorandum: Allegations of Wrongdoing and Illegal Activity by Dr. David Morens, Senior Advisor to 
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases former-Director, Dr. Anthony Fauci. Page 3. May 22, 
2024. 118th Congress. 
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33 U.S. Congress, House, Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic. Interview of: Dr. David Morens. 
Page 56 - 57. https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/Morens-TI-Transcript-2.pdf 
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